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Blackwall UCITS Platform ICAV 
 
BACKGROUND TO THE ICAV 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY 

Blackwall UCITS Platform ICAV (or the "ICAV") is an open-ended umbrella type Irish collective asset-management vehicle with limited liability 
and segregated liability between sub-funds, registered with and authorised by the Central Bank of Ireland (the ”Central Bank”) pursuant to part 
2 of the Irish Collective Asset-management Vehicles Act 2015 (as amended) (the “ICAV Act”) and pursuant to the provisions of the European 
Communities (Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities) Regulations 2011 (as amended) (the “UCITS Regulations”) and 
the Central Bank (Supervision and Enforcement) Act 2013 (Section 48(1) (Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities) 
Regulations 2019 (the “Central Bank UCITS Regulations”) .  

The ICAV is structured as an umbrella type Irish collective asset-management vehicle which may consist of different sub-funds, each comprising 
one or more classes.  

The ICAV was registered in Ireland on 23 July 2018 and was authorised by the Central Bank on 13 December 2018 as an umbrella fund with 
segregated liability between sub-funds. 

As at 31 December 2021, the ICAV has one sub-fund, namely the Blackwall Europe Equity Fund (or the “Fund”).  

The Fund is offering accumulating and distributing share classes.  

INVESTMENT OBJECTIVE AND POLICY 

The investment objective of the Fund is to seek capital appreciation through investment primarily in listed European equity and equity related 
securities. 

The Fund seeks to achieve its investment objective through a long-only investment strategy. Using this strategy, the Fund will, invest in or take 
long exposures to, principally, listed equity and equity-related securities of issuers from any economic sector and market capitalisation. The 
Fund can additionally utilise financial derivative instruments (“FDI”) to achieve exposure to underlying equity and equity-related securities on a 
long basis as well as for the purposes of hedging and efficient portfolio management. These instruments may include futures, contracts for 
difference, swaps (including total return swaps), forwards, options and warrants as further described in the Prospectus. The Fund may invest 
up to 10% of its net assets in warrants to obtain exposure to, or acquire, the underlying equity securities of an issuer. 

The equity and equity-related securities in which the Fund invests will primarily be listed on a European stock exchange or market, and/or the 
securities of businesses with a substantial operation in Europe. The equity-related securities in which the Fund invests may include, but are not 
limited to, convertible securities, such as unleveraged bonds that are convertible into the equity securities of an issuer, as further described in 
the Prospectus. 

The Fund may also, for cash management purposes, invest in short duration fixed-income instruments (including sovereign, corporate or 
government bonds which may be fixed or floating rate, investment grade bonds as rated by a recognised credit rating agency). In respect of 
such cash management purposes, the Fund may invest a large part of its net assets in fixed income instruments issued, or guaranteed as to 
principal and interest, by such issuers as listed in section 2.12 of schedule 2 to the Prospectus provided that the Fund holds at least six different 
issues, with securities from any one issue not exceeding 30% of net assets. 
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Blackwall UCITS Platform ICAV 
 
DIRECTORS’ REPORT  
 
The Board of Directors (or “Directors”) present their Annual Report and Audited Financial statements of the ICAV for the year from 1 January 
2021 to 31 December 2021. 
 
Directors’ Responsibilities Statement 
 
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Directors’ Report and financial statements, in accordance with applicable Irish law and 
regulations. 
 
The ICAV Act requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each year. Under that law they have elected to prepare the financial 
dtatements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU (“IFRS”). 
 
The financial statements are required to give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the ICAV at the end of the 
year and of the profit or loss of the ICAV for the year. In preparing these financial statements, the Directors are required to:   
 
• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 
• make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 
• state whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRS; and 
• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the ICAV will continue in business. 

 

The Directors confirm that they have complied with the above requirements in preparing the financial statements. 

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the assets, 
liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the ICAV and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the ICAV Act, 
and the provisions of the UCITS Regulations and Central Bank UCITS Regulations. They have general responsibility for taking such steps as are 
reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the ICAV. In this regard they have entrusted the assets of the ICAV to a depositary for safe-
keeping. They have general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to prevent and detect fraud and other 
irregularities. The Directors are also responsible for preparing a Directors’ Report that complies with the requirements of the ICAV Act. 
 
Principal Activities, Review of Business and Future Developments  

The principal activities of the ICAV are set out in the Background to the ICAV on page 3. The Directors do not anticipate any changes in the 
structure or investment objective. A review of business and indication of likely future developments is included in the Investment Manager's 
Report on page 7. 

 
Results and Dividends  

The results for the year are set out in the Statement of Comprehensive Income on page 19. There were no distributions made during the year 
(31 December 2020: none). 
 
Principal Risks and Uncertainties 

The ICAV’s principal risks and uncertainties are the investment risks associated with the portfolio of investments held for the account of the 
Fund and the operational risks associated with its management and administration. A more detailed analysis of some of the risks facing the 
ICAV is included in note 13 of the Financial statements. 
 
Significant Events During the Year 

Significant events during the year are detailed in Note 16 to the financial statements. 
 
Subsequent  Events  

Subsequent events are detailed in Note 17 to the financial statements. 
 
Directors 

The Directors who held office during the year under review are: Philip Craig, Stephen Finn, Thomas Karlovits and Gino Landuyt. 
 
Directors' and Secretary Interests 

None of the Directors who held office at the year end nor the Secretary had any interests in the Shares of the ICAV at that date or at any time 
during the year. (31 December 2020: none) 
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Blackwall UCITS Platform ICAV 
 
DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 
 
Transactions with Connected Persons 

Regulation 43(1) of the Central Bank UCITS Regulations requires in effect that any transaction carried out with a UCITS by a manager or 
depositary to the UCITS, the delegates or sub-delegates of the manager or depositary, and any associated or group company of such a 
manager, depositary, delegate or sub-delegate (“connected persons”) must be carried out as if conducted at arm's length. Transactions must 
be in the best interests of the Shareholders.  

The Directors are satisfied that there are arrangements (evidenced by written procedures) in place, to ensure that the obligations set out in 
Regulation 43(1) of the Central Bank UCITS Regulations are applied to all transactions with connected persons, and are satisfied that 
transactions with connected persons entered into during the year complied with the obligations set out in Regulation 43(1) of the Central Bank 
UCITS Regulations. 
 
Accounting Records 

The measures taken by the Directors to secure compliance with the ICAV's obligation to keep adequate accounting records are the use of 
appropriate systems and procedures and employment of Northern Trust International Fund Administration Services (Ireland) Limited to 
maintain the accounting records. The accounting records of the ICAV are kept at Northern Trust International Fund Administration Services 
(Ireland) Limited, Georges Court, 54 – 62 Townsend Street, Dublin 2, Ireland. 
 
Auditors 

In accordance with Section 125 of the ICAV Act, the auditors, Grant Thornton, have expressed their willingness to act as independent auditor 
to the ICAV for the year ended 31 December 2021. 
 
Going Concern 

The Directors have a reasonable expectation that the ICAV has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for a period of twelve 
months from the date of approval of these Financial Statments. Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the 
Financial statements. 
 
Corporate Governance Code 

Irish Funds, the association for the funds industry in Ireland, has published a corporate governance code that may be adopted on a voluntary 
basis by Irish authorised investment funds. The Board of Directors has adopted the Code, and the ICAV was in compliance with all elements of 
the Code during the year. 

The text of the Code is available from the Irish Funds website, www.irishfunds.ie. 
 

 
 
On Behalf of the Board of Directors 
 
  
 
  
    
_____________       
Philip Craig      Stephen Finn 
 
19 April 2022 
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Blackwall UCITS Platform ICAV 

DEPOSITARY REPORT  

Annual Depositary Report to Shareholders 

We, Northern Trust Fiduciary Services (Ireland) Limited (“NTFSIL”), appointed Depositary to Blackwall UCITS Platform ICAV (the “ICAV”) provide 
this report solely in favour of the shareholders of the ICAV for the year ended 31 December 2021 (the “Annual Accounting Year”). This report is 
provided in accordance with the European Communities (Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities) Regulations 2011 
(SI No 352 of 2011), as amended, which implemented Directive 2009/65/EU into Irish Law (the “Regulations”). We do not, in the provision of 
this report, accept nor assume responsibility for any other purpose or person to whom this report is shown. 

In accordance with our Depositary obligation as provided for under the Regulations, we have enquired into the conduct of the ICAV for the 
Annual Accounting year and we hereby report thereon to the shareholders of the ICAV as follows;  

We are of the opinion that the ICAV has been managed during the year, in all material respects: 

(i) in accordance with the limitations imposed on the investment and borrowing powers of the ICAV by the constitutional documents
and by the Regulations; and

(ii) otherwise in accordance with the provisions of the constitutional documents and the Regulations.

_____________________________________________ 
For and on behalf of 
Northern Trust Fiduciary Services (Ireland) Limited 
19 April 2022 
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Blackwall UCITS Platform ICAV 
 
INVESTMENT MANAGER’S REPORT 
 
The Blackwall Europe Equity Fund ended 2021 -14.45% (separate quarterly performances were Q1 -3.26%, Q2 +1.03%, Q3 -7.77%% and Q4 -
5.10%) with AuM at EUR 114.7mio. 

During almost the entire year the Fund suffered disproportionately from sector rotations, from growth into value, while simultaneously our 
hedging strategies didn’t work either. The overall market worries about inflation and rising interest rates led to multiple periods of extended 
selling of growth companies. 

Over 2021 we made the following observations: 

• Many so-called value stocks are in the process of being disrupted and/or are of a very cyclical nature. It requires a great element of 
timing to get them right and bears a significant risk of permanently losing money if one gets this wrong. Thus, we for the most part 
stay away from investing in this particular area.  

• Within the growth segment, the valuation gap is significant, in particular when comparing European companies with their US peers. 
US companies are regularly 2-3x more expensive, and even 5-10x higher multiples are not uncommon. As outlined over the course of 
2021, we fully share the implications higher interest rates have on expensively priced, long duration companies, in particular with 
multiple years of early-stage losses and almost the entire value deriving from the terminal value. 

In addition to our usual illustration of the “typical” company held, here are some broader portfolio observations at year end: 

• 46% of our portfolio is weighted in “growth” stocks with sales and EBIT expected to grow by more than 10% annually over 2022E and 
2023E.  

• 88% of our portfolio companies are expected to be EBIT positive in 2022 (as in 2021). Only 3 companies are making a loss in 2022 of 
which one should be strongly positive in 2023 and the other two close to break-even (the combined weighting of the latter two 
companies is just 2% of the fund).  

• 63% of the portfolio weighting is in companies with an expected net cash position in 2022 and in 2023. If we would argue that a net 
debt/EBITDA of less than 0.5 is equivalent to a debt-free company, then 24 companies or 80% of the weighting qualify as such. 

The price declines in such companies are even more remarkable as the average portfolio is trading at an EV/EBIT of 12.3x for 2022 and 10.7x 
for 2023, which is well below general market levels (e.g. Stoxx 600: 15.9, 15.1 respectively) and even more so compared to technology indices 
(e.g. Stoxx Technology: 38.5 and 33.6). The cheapest stock in our portfolio trades at about 2.9x EV/EBIT for 2022. Due to strong earnings 
growth and a further increase in net cash EV/EBIT is expected to drop to around 2.0x in 2023. Irrespective of any short-term performance, the 
key to the long-term performance of the fund is the underlying ROCE profile of the companies we invest in (please re-read our Q2 2021 
newsletter for full details). Our companies had an overall positive operational development in 2021. As for 2022, many of them start with 
record order books, capable of overcoming any potential short-term economic downswing as H1 looks more fragile in terms of global 
economy. Given inflationary trends, it is most important that their market positions are strong, with an economic competitive advantage 
allowing them to pass on price increases and higher input costs. An exceptionally strong balance sheet allows them to take benefit of weaker 
competitors if such opportunities occur. 

As usual we consolidate our portfolio holdings into a notional combined entity allowing us to better illustrate to investors the economics of an 
average company in the portfolio. Our ‘average company’ looks like the following: 

Table 1: Blackwall “average company” portfolio example 
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Blackwall UCITS 
Platform ICAV for the year ended 31 December 2021 
  
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of Blackwall UCITS Platform ICAV (or the “ICAV”) consisting of one sub-fund, 
namely Blackwall Europe Equity Fund (or the “Fund”), which comprise the Statement of comprehensive income, the  Statement 
of financial position, the Statement of changes in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares and the 
Statement of cash flows for the financial year ended 31 December 2021, and the related notes to the financial statements, 
including the summary of significant accounting policies. 
 
The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the financial statements is Irish law and 
International Financial Reporting Standards (or “IFRS”) as adopted by the European Union. 
 
In our opinion, the ICAV’s financial statements:  

• give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the ICAV as at 31 
December 2021 and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended; and 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Irish Collective Asset-management Vehicles Act 
2015 (as amended) (or the “ICAV Act”). 
 

Basis for opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Ireland) (or “ISAs (Ireland)”) and applicable 
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the ‘responsibilities of the auditor for the audit of the 
financial statements’ section of our report. We are independent of the ICAV in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Ireland, namely the Irish Auditing and Accounting Supervisory Authority (or 
“IAASA”) Ethical Standard concerning the integrity, objectivity and independence of the auditor, and the ethical pronouncements 
established by Chartered Accountants Ireland, applied as determined to be appropriate in the circumstances for the entity. We 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Conclusions relating to going concern  
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the director’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the 
preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. 
 
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, 
individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the ICAV’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least 
twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue. 
 
Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of 
this report. 
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Blackwall UCITS 
Platform ICAV for the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
Other information  
Other information comprises information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and the auditor’s report 
thereon.  Other information included in the financial statements includes the Directors’ Report, the Depositary report, the 
Investment Manager’s Report, the schedule of investments and other unaudited additional information not forming part of the 
audited financial statements.  The Directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial statements does 
not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.  
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the 
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  
 
If we identify such material inconsistencies in the financial statements, we are required to determine whether there is a material 
misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have 
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. 
 
We have nothing to report in this regard.  
 
Matters on which we are required to report by the ICAV Act  
 
In our opinion, the information given in the Directors’ report is consistent with the financial statements.  Based solely on the work 
undertaken in the course of our audit, in our opinion, the Directors’ report has been prepared in accordance with the requirements 
of the ICAV Act. 
 
Matters on which we are required to report by exception  
Under the ICAV Act we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, the disclosures of Directors’ remuneration and 
transactions specified by section 117 of the ICAV Act have not been made. We have no exceptions to report arising from this 
responsibility. 
 
Responsibilities of those charged with governance for the financial statements  
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of the 
financial statements which give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union, and for such 
internal controls as they determine necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the ICAV’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 
Directors either intend to liquidate the ICAV or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the ICAV’s financial reporting process. 
 
Responsibilities of the auditor for the audit of the financial statements 
 
The auditor’s objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes their opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (Ireland) will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis 
of these financial statements. 
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Blackwall UCITS 
Platform ICAV for the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
Responsibilities of the auditor for the audit of the financial statements (continued) 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs (Ireland), the auditor will exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. The auditor will also: 
 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for their opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal controls relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the ICAV’s internal 
controls. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the Directors. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the ICAV’s ability to continue as a going concern. If they conclude that a material uncertainty exists, they are required to 
draw attention in the auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify their opinion. Their conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of the 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the ICAV to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether 
the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a matter that achieves a true and fair view.  
  

The auditor communicates with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal controls that may be identified during the 
audit. 
 
The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities 
 
This report is made solely to the ICAV’s shareholders, as a body, in accordance with section 120 of the Irish Collective Asset-
management Vehicles Act 2015 (as amended).  Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the ICAV’s 
shareholders those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the ICAV and the ICAV’s shareholders as a 
body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 
 
 
 
 

John Glennon 
For and on behalf of 
Grant Thornton 
Chartered Accountants & Statutory Audit Firm 
13-18 City Quay 
Dublin 2 
D02 ED70 
Ireland    

Date: 19 April 2022 
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Blackwall UCITS Platform ICAV 
 
SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS (UNAUDITED) 

As at 31 December 2021 

Country of Nominal Fair Value %  of
incorporation Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss Currency holdings EUR Net Assets

Equities: 96.48%  (2020: 90.04% )

Belgium Belgium: 4.74%  (2020: 0.00% )

EUR 595,000                       5,438,300          4.74             

Total Belgium 5,438,300        4.74            

Faeroe Islands Faeroe Islands: 2.95%  (2020: 0.00% )

NOK 58,222                         3,388,290          2.95             

Total Faeroe Islands 3,388,290        2.95            

Finland Finland: 10.06%  (2020: 8.86% )

EUR 259,757                       2,979,413          2.60             
EUR 98,453                         3,908,584          3.41             
EUR 288,000                       4,648,320          4.05             

Total Finland 11,536,317     10.06         

France France: 6.18%  (2020: 6.12% )

EUR 6,035                           869,945             0.76             
EUR 22,750                         1,190,053          1.04             
EUR 5,158                           5,029,050          4 38             

Total France 7,089,048        6.18            

Germany Germany: 47.80%  (2020: 52.81% )

EUR 4,550                           411,229             0 36             
EUR 56,141                         212,774             0.19             
EUR 61,330                         681,376             0.59             
EUR 157,616                       1,205,762          1.05             
EUR 50,115                         6,640,238          5.79             
EUR 282,285                       5,515,849          4.81             
EUR 215,536                       9,990,094          8.71             
EUR 117,550                       9,051,350          7.89             
EUR 18,050                         2,254,445          1.97             
EUR 185,491                       7,274,957          6.34             
EUR 130,479                       4,577,203          3.99             
EUR 333,611                       7,005,831          6.11             

Total Germany 54,821,108     47.80         
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Blackwall UCITS Platform ICAV 
 
SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS (UNAUDITED) (continued) 

As at 31 December 2021 
 
Country of Nominal Fair Value %  of
incorporation Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss Currency holdings EUR Net Assets

Equities: 96.48%  (2020: 90.04% ) (continued)

Isle of Man Isle of Man: 0.48%  (2020: 0.00% )

GBP 2,050,000                    549,367             0.48             

Total Isle of Man 549,367           0.48            

Italy Italy: 0.76%  (2020: 0.66% )

EUR 389,187                       873,725             0.76             

Total Italy 873,725           0.76            

Netherlands Netherlands: 3.54%  (2020: 5.41% )

EUR 2,644                           233,333             0.20             
EUR 550                              388,685             0.34             
EUR 83,000                         3,439,520          3.00             

Total Netherlands 4,061,538        3.54            

Norway Norway: 0.63%  (2020: 2.61% )

NOK 11,503                         723,800             0.63             

Total Norway 723,800           0.63            

Portugal Portugal: 4.06%  (2020: 6.16% )

EUR 412,736                       4,655,662          4.06             

Total Portugal 4,655,662        4.06            

Spain Spain: 6.76%  (2020: 1.06% )

EUR 102,118                       1,723,752          1.50             
EUR 217,750                       4,768,725          4.16             
EUR 74,744                         1,261,305          1.10             

Total Spain 7,753,782        6.76            

Sweden Sweden: 4.09%  (2020: 2.73% )

SEK 122,343                       4,694,788          4.09             

Total Sweden 4,694,788        4.09            
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Blackwall UCITS Platform ICAV 
 
SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS (UNAUDITED) (continued) 

As at 31 December 2021 
 
Country of Nominal Fair Value %  of
incorporation Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss Currency holdings EUR Net Assets

Equities: 96.48%  (2020: 90.04% ) (continued)

Switzerland Switzerland: 4.43%  (2020: 3.62% )

CHF 200                              2,437,848          2.13             
CHF 440                              2,034,898          1.78             
CHF 2,550                           601,471             0.52             

Total Switzerland 5,074,217        4.43            

Total Equities 110,659,942   96.48         

Options Purchased: 0.65%  (2020: 0.27% )

Counterparty Srike No. of Fair Value %  of 
CCY Price Contracts Expiry Date EUR Net Assets

Morgan Stanley * EUR 15.9300 470 15/12/2023 748,710             0.65             
* Not covered by underlying assets
Total 748,710           0.65            

Total Options Purchased 748,710           0.65            

Forward Currency Contracts: 0.34%  (2020: 0.02% )

Unrealised %  of 
Counterparty Buy Sell Maturity Date gain EUR Net Assets
Northern Trust GBP 11,321,235 EUR 13,203,561 11/01/2022 279,877             0.25             
Northern Trust GBP 5,673,464 EUR 6,616,763 11/01/2022 140,256             0.12             
Northern Trust USD 4,856,602 EUR 4,196,856 11/01/2022 73,640               0.07             
Northern Trust CHF 1,737,584 EUR 1,647,574 11/01/2022 29,392               0.03             
Northern Trust EUR 1,481,127 USD 1,670,464 11/01/2022 12,259               0.01             
Northern Trust GBP 358,344 EUR 418,046 11/01/2022 8,737                 0.01             
Northern Trust USD 511,050 EUR 441,626 11/01/2022 7,749                 0.01             
Northern Trust GBP 694,157 EUR 821,509 11/01/2022 5,223                 0.01             
Northern Trust GBP 184,821 EUR 215,613 11/01/2022 4,506                 -              
Northern Trust GBP 176,116 EUR 206,647 11/01/2022 3,104                 -              
Northern Trust USD 200,935 EUR 173,639 11/01/2022 3,047                 -              
Northern Trust EUR 220,997 USD 247,973 11/01/2022 2,951                 -              
Northern Trust GBP 349,439 EUR 413,548 11/01/2022 2,629                 -              
Northern Trust USD 105,500 EUR 91,180 11/01/2022 1,588                 -              
Northern Trust GBP 63,614 EUR 74,191 11/01/2022 1,573                 -              
Northern Trust CHF 104,479 EUR 99,268 11/01/2022 1,565                 -              
Northern Trust EUR 203,744 USD 229,970 11/01/2022 1,527                 -              
Northern Trust CHF 88,138 EUR 83,572 11/01/2022 1,491                 -              
Northern Trust USD 94,706 EUR 81,841 11/01/2022 1,436                 -              
Northern Trust EUR 61,147 USD 68,550 11/01/2022 870                    -              

 
 
 



14 
 

Blackwall UCITS Platform ICAV 
 
SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS (UNAUDITED) (continued) 
 
As at 31 December 2021 
 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Forward Currency Contracts (continued): 0.34%  (2020: 0.02% )

Unrealised %  of 
Counterparty Buy Sell Maturity Date gain EUR Net Assets
Northern Trust GBP 216,686 EUR 257,258 11/01/2022 813                    -              
Northern Trust CHF 37,494 EUR 35,562 11/01/2022 624                    -              
Northern Trust GBP 18,536 EUR 21,657 11/01/2022 419                    -              
Northern Trust EUR 24,004 USD 26,967 11/01/2022 292                    -              
Northern Trust EUR 32,488 USD 36,670 11/01/2022 244                    -              
Northern Trust EUR 50,418 USD 57,065 11/01/2022 240                    -              
Northern Trust USD 15,911 EUR 13,751 11/01/2022 240                    -              
Northern Trust GBP 15,228 EUR 17,946 11/01/2022 190                    -              
Northern Trust GBP 8,472 EUR 9,906 11/01/2022 184                    -              
Northern Trust CHF 8,822 EUR 8,365 11/01/2022 149                    -              
Northern Trust EUR 9,402 USD 10,563 11/01/2022 114                    -              
Northern Trust USD 294,555 EUR 258,906 11/01/2022 101                    -              
Northern Trust USD 6,408 EUR 5,538 11/01/2022 96                      -              
Northern Trust EUR 12,695 USD 14,330 11/01/2022 95                      -              
Northern Trust CHF 5,421 EUR 5,151 11/01/2022 81                      -              
Northern Trust GBP 8,100 EUR 9,568 11/01/2022 80                      -              
Northern Trust GBP 3,088 EUR 3,609 11/01/2022 68                      -              
Northern Trust EUR 4,440 USD 4,988 11/01/2022 54                      -              
Northern Trust GBP 1,999 EUR 2,332 11/01/2022 49                      -              
Northern Trust CHF 2,782 EUR 2,638 11/01/2022 46                      -              
Northern Trust EUR 6,002 USD 6,775 11/01/2022 45                      -              
Northern Trust USD 2,984 EUR 2,579 11/01/2022 45                      -              
Northern Trust GBP 1,403 EUR 1,636 11/01/2022 35                      -              
Northern Trust GBP 3,883 EUR 4,595 11/01/2022 29                      -              
Northern Trust EUR 7,973 USD 9,035 11/01/2022 28                      -              
Northern Trust CHF 3,790 EUR 3,637 11/01/2022 21                      -              
Northern Trust USD 31,160 EUR 27,389 11/01/2022 11                      -              
Northern Trust CHF 541 EUR 514 11/01/2022 8                        -              
Northern Trust GBP 626 EUR 738 11/01/2022 8                        -              
Northern Trust GBP 314 EUR 366 11/01/2022 7                        -              
Northern Trust GBP 9,864 EUR 11,741 11/01/2022 6                        -              
Northern Trust CHF 275 EUR 261 11/01/2022 5                        -              
Northern Trust USD 12,326 EUR 10,834 11/01/2022 4                        -              
Northern Trust GBP 240 EUR 283 11/01/2022 4                        -              
Northern Trust EUR 489 USD 553 11/01/2022 2                        -              
Northern Trust USD 5,792 EUR 5,091 11/01/2022 2                        -              
Northern Trust GBP 156 EUR 184 11/01/2022 2                        -              
Northern Trust GBP 81 EUR 95 11/01/2022 1                        -              
Northern Trust GBP 43 EUR 51 11/01/2022 1                        -              
Northern Trust GBP 43 EUR 51 11/01/2022 1                        -              
Northern Trust GBP 5 EUR 5 11/01/2022                        -   -              

Total Unrealised Gains on Forward Currency Contracts 587,864           0.51            

Total Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 111,996,516   97.64         
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Blackwall UCITS Platform ICAV 
 
SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS (UNAUDITED) (continued) 
 
As at 31 December 2021 
 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Forward Currency Contracts (continued): 0.34%  (2020: 0.02% )

Unrealised %  of 
Counterparty Buy Sell Maturity Date loss EUR Net Assets
Northern Trust EUR 18 GBP 15 11/01/2022                        -   -              
Northern Trust EUR 28 GBP 23 11/01/2022                        -   -              
Northern Trust EUR 34 CHF 36 11/01/2022 (1)                       -              
Northern Trust USD 91 EUR 81 11/01/2022 (1)                       -              
Northern Trust EUR 47 GBP 40 11/01/2022 (1)                       -              
Northern Trust EUR 61 GBP 53 11/01/2022 (1)                       -              
Northern Trust EUR 119 GBP 102 11/01/2022 (1)                       -              
Northern Trust EUR 179 CHF 189 11/01/2022 (3)                       -              
Northern Trust EUR 604 CHF 630 11/01/2022 (4)                       -              
Northern Trust EUR 1,001 GBP 844 11/01/2022 (4)                       -              
Northern Trust EUR 446 CHF 468 11/01/2022 (5)                       -              
Northern Trust EUR 3,945 GBP 3,316 11/01/2022 (5)                       -              
Northern Trust EUR 333 CHF 351 11/01/2022 (6)                       -              
Northern Trust EUR 742 GBP 630 11/01/2022 (8)                       -              
Northern Trust EUR 1,080 GBP 920 11/01/2022 (15)                     -              
Northern Trust USD 1,650 EUR 1,470 11/01/2022 (19)                     -              
Northern Trust EUR 1,190 GBP 1,017 11/01/2022 (22)                     -              
Northern Trust EUR 6,017 CHF 6,273 11/01/2022 (38)                     -              
Northern Trust EUR 4,450 CHF 4,663 11/01/2022 (50)                     -              
Northern Trust EUR 4,407 GBP 3,758 11/01/2022 (68)                     -              
Northern Trust EUR 5,433 GBP 4,620 11/01/2022 (69)                     -              
Northern Trust EUR 4,927 GBP 4,196 11/01/2022 (70)                     -              
Northern Trust EUR 5,449 GBP 4,638 11/01/2022 (75)                     -              
Northern Trust EUR 9,744 CHF 10,305 11/01/2022 (202)                   -              
Northern Trust EUR 14,021 CHF 14,794 11/01/2022 (257)                   -              
Northern Trust EUR 16,787 GBP 14,354 11/01/2022 (308)                   -              
Northern Trust USD 44,918 EUR 40,090 11/01/2022 (593)                   -              
Northern Trust EUR 116,411 CHF 121,374 11/01/2022 (729)                   -              
Northern Trust EUR 129,041 CHF 134,473 11/01/2022 (741)                   -              
Northern Trust EUR 51,773 GBP 44,113 11/01/2022 (765)                   -              
Northern Trust EUR 59,855 GBP 50,939 11/01/2022 (812)                   -              
Northern Trust EUR 604,202 GBP 508,005 11/01/2022 (825)                   -              
Northern Trust EUR 85,949 CHF 90,052 11/01/2022 (961)                   -              
Northern Trust EUR 356,552 GBP 300,801 11/01/2022 (1,698)                -              
Northern Trust EUR 339,626 GBP 289,077 11/01/2022 (4,660)                -              
Northern Trust EUR 474,689 GBP 404,037 11/01/2022 (6,513)                (0.01)           
Northern Trust EUR 395,206 GBP 337,969 11/01/2022 (7,310)                (0.01)           
Northern Trust EUR 4,443,959 SEK 45,850,000 20/01/2022 (8,629)                (0.01)           
Northern Trust EUR 3,627,615 GBP 3,053,364 11/01/2022 (8,900)                (0.01)           
Northern Trust EUR 4,116,009 NOK 42,000,000 20/01/2022 (70,444)              (0.06)           
Northern Trust EUR 4,974,552 GBP 4,239,582 11/01/2022 (74,733)              (0.07)           

Total Unrealised Losses on Forward Currency Contracts (189,546)          (0.17)          

Total Forward Currency Contracts 398,318           0.34            

Total Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (189,546)          (0.17)           
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Blackwall UCITS Platform ICAV 
 
SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS (UNAUDITED) (continued) 
 
As at 31 December 2021 
 

Fair Value % of
EUR Net Assets

   Total investments at fair value through profit and loss      111,806,970 97.47         
   Cash, cash equivalents and margin cash 4,837,193 4.22           
   Other Assets             174,763 0.15           
   Other Liabilities        (2,112,847) (1.84)          

   Total net assets attributable to holders of
   redeemable ordinary participating shares 114,706,079    100.00       

% of
Total

assets*
Analysis of portfolio
Transferable securities admitted to an official stock exchange listing or traded on a recognised market 94.57%
Financial derivative interest dealt in on a regulated market 0.64%
Over-the-counter derivatives 0.50%
Cash, cash equivalents and margin cash 4.13%
Other assets 0.16%

100.00%

*Calculation based on the total assets of the Fund (excluding liabilities). This summary is a UCITS requirement.
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Blackwall UCITS Platform ICAV 
 
SCHEDULE OF PORTFOLIO CHANGES (UNAUDITED)  
 
For the year from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021 
 
Largest purchases

Cost
Description Holding EUR

146,606       13,223,133            
107,492       6,865,971              
807,500       5,954,874              
216,444       5,468,416              
168,126       4,406,613              
98,130         3,783,306              
66,598         3,650,296              

280,000       3,385,070              
27,300         3,143,203              
5,500           3,132,210              
2,555           2,571,854              

31,500         2,432,421              
34,500         2,285,291              

102,750       2,092,606              
42,750         2,065,481              

183,834       1,950,558              
102,118       1,811,397              
17,500         1,799,135              

113,000       1,717,587              
345,000       1,494,853              

180              1,474,504              
6,000           1,236,175              

189,996       1,087,978              
24,801         971,345                 

260              923,373                 

The significant changes to the portfolio for the year are the aggregate purchases of a security exceeding 1% of
the total value of aggregate purchases for the financial year. Where the number of purchases transactions of a
security exceeding 1% of the total value of purchases for the financial year is less than 20, then a minimum of 20
purchases will be disclosed.
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Blackwall UCITS Platform ICAV 
 
SCHEDULE OF PORTFOLIO CHANGES (UNAUDITED) (continued) 
 
For the year from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021 
 
Largest sales

Proceeds
Description Holding EUR
Northern Data 144,123       13,900,159            
ASML 8,350           4,805,200              
SAP 37,500         3,870,315              
Knorr-Bremse 32,590         3,247,241              
Électricité de France 280,000       3,239,569              
SUESS MicroTec 112,331       2,559,062              
Hornbach HLDG 24,245         2,539,182              
Alfen 28,259         2,395,099              
Ceconomy 530,000       2,350,467              
Cie Generale des Etablissements Michelin 18,980         2,303,053              
X-Fab Silicon Foundries 212,500       1,827,712              
SNP Schneider-Neureither & Partner 27,338         1,625,223              
Givaudan 350              1,519,367              
Zardoya Otis 189,996       1,331,239              
Dassault Systemes 6,550           1,186,085              
Tomra Systems 20,000         1,150,708              
Mynaric 13,237         1,008,879              
Chocoladefabriken Lindt & Sprüngli 100              966,636                 
Getinge 35,000         685,200                 
Schindler 2,858           654,338                 
LPKR Laser & Electronics 28,091         594,058                 

The significant changes to the portfolio for the year are the aggregate sales of a security exceeding 1% of the
total value of aggregate sales for the financial year. Where the number of sales transactions of a security
exceeding 1% of the total value of sales for the financial year is less than 20, then a minimum of 20 sales will be
disclosed.
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Blackwall UCITS Platform ICAV 
 
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
For the year from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021 
 

Blackwall Europe 
Equity Fund

Blackwall Europe 
Equity Fund

Year ended Year ended
31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Note EUR EUR
Income
Dividend income 2 787,148 179,307 
Other income 15 85 
Net (losses)/gains on financial assets and financial liabilities 
at fair value through profit or loss and foreign currencies 2, 4 (18,568,533) 15,739,451 
Total net (loss)/income (17,781,370) 15,918,843 

Expenses
Investment Management fees 5 (1,095,969) (393,740)
Manager fees 5 (50,000) (50,000)
Administration fees 5 (94,090) (87,081)
Depositary fees 5 (82,149) (36,953)
Directors' fees 5 (45,365) (15,365)
Performance fees 5 - (235,339)
Audit fees 5 (20,211) (18,141)
Other expenses 6 (176,798) (137,701)
Transaction costs 2 (161,161) (87,653)
Total expenses (1,725,743) (1,061,973)

Operating (loss)/profit (19,507,113) 14,856,870 

Finance costs
Bank interest expense 2 (112,087) (38,971)

Taxation
Withholding tax 3 (157,020) (37,203)

(19,776,220) 14,780,696 
(Decrease)/Increase in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares from 
operations

 
 
There were no recognised gains or losses during the year ended 31 December 2021 and year ended 2020 other than the (decrease)/increase in 
net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares. In arriving at the results of the year, all amounts above relate to 
continuing operations. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Blackwall UCITS Platform ICAV 
 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
As at 31 December 2021 
 

Blackwall Europe 
Equity Fund

Blackwall Europe 
Equity Fund

As at As at
31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Note EUR EUR
Assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
- Investments in transferable securities - equities 2, 14              110,659,942                85,447,688 
- Investments in financial derivative instruments 2, 14                  1,336,574                     482,943 
Cash and cash equivalents 8                  4,527,183                10,570,708 
Margin cash 8                     310,010                  2,313,108 
Capital shares sold receivable 2                     174,763                     981,370 
Other assets                               -                           2,360 
Total assets              117,008,472                99,798,177 

Liabilities
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
 - Investments in financial derivatives instruments 2, 14 (189,546) (205,211)
Investment management fees payable 5 (84,526) (62,579)
Manager fees payable 5 (12,500) (12,500)
Administration fees payable 5 (9,061) (28,449)
Depositary fees payable 5 (9,826) (12,824)
Performance fees payable 5 - (235,339)
Audit fees payable 5 (23,441) (20,690)
Securities purchased payable 2 (1,932,616) (4,009,126)
Capital shares purchased payable 2 - (260,878)
Other payables 7 (40,877) (49,728)

(2,302,393) (4,897,324)

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares 114,706,079 94,900,853 

Total liabilities (excluding net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating 
shares)

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

       The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 



21 
 

Blackwall UCITS Platform ICAV 
 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (continued) 
As at 31 December 2021 
 
 

Blackwall Europe 
Equity Fund

Blackwall Europe 
Equity Fund

As at As at
31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Shares in issue (Note 10)
Class I EUR                  5,579,018                  2,631,349 
Class R EUR                             1,859,104                  1,677,343 
Class R GBP *                                    5,331                         5,788 
Class A EUR                                  91,901                     179,506 
Class I GBP *                                336,980                     912,898 
Class I USD *                                246,930                     126,811 
Class D USD *                                  9,000                         9,000 
Class I CHF *                                142,297                     133,433 
Class C EUR                              128,090                     128,090 
Class B GBP *                              592,738                     591,410 
Class B CHF *                                  9,290                         5,000 
Class C USD *                                20,000                       20,000 
Class R USD *                                  53,022                         6,917 
Class C CHF *^                                  1,000                               -   

NAV per share (Note 11)
Class I EUR €12.85 €15.02
Class R EUR €12.56 €14.79
Class R GBP * £11.98 £14.06
Class A EUR €10.99 €12.87
Class I GBP * £13.18 £15.34
Class I USD * $12.95 $14.98
Class D USD * $10.59 $12.29
Class I CHF * fr. 11.03 fr. 12.95
Class C EUR €10.86 €12.66
Class B GBP * £9.64 £11.14
Class B CHF * fr. 9.54 fr. 11.13
Class C USD * $10.12 $11.69
Class R USD * $8.57 $10.00
Class C CHF *^ fr. 8.86                               -    

 
* Hedged share classes 
^ Share Class C CHF was launched on 11 March 2021. 
 
 
_____________      _____________ 
Philip Craig      Stephen Finn 
      
19 April 2022 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

       The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Blackwall UCITS Platform ICAV 
 
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO HOLDERS OF REDEEMABLE PARTICIPATING SHARES 
For the year from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021 
 

Blackwall Europe 
Equity Fund

Blackwall Europe 
Equity Fund

Year ended Year ended
31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Note EUR EUR

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares at the beginning of the year 94,900,853 15,238,931 
(Decrease)/Increase in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares from 
operations (19,776,220) 14,780,696 
Issue of redeemable participating shares for the year 10 88,529,874 71,172,039 
Redemption of redeemable participating shares for the year 10 (48,948,428) (6,290,813)

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares at the end of the year 114,706,079 94,900,853 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Blackwall UCITS Platform ICAV 
 
STATEMENT OF CASHFLOWS 
For the year from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021 
 

Blackwall Europe 
Equity Fund

Blackwall Europe 
Equity Fund

Year ended Year ended
31 December 2021 31 December 2020

EUR EUR

Cash flows from operating activities

(19,776,220) 14,780,696 

Increase in financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (26,081,550) (70,912,615)
Decrease in receivables 2,360 36,642 
(Decrease)/Increase in payables (2,318,388) 4,333,739 
Decrease/(Increase) in Margin cash 2,003,098 (2,252,027)
Net cash outflow from operating activities (46,170,700) (54,013,565)
 
Cash flow from financing activities
Proceeds from redeemable participating shares issued during the year 89,336,481 70,190,669 
Payments for redeemable participating shares redeemed during the year (49,209,306) (6,029,935)
Net cash inflow from financing activities 40,127,175 64,160,734 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (6,043,525) 10,147,169 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 10,570,708 423,539 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 4,527,183 10,570,708 

(Decrease)/Increase in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating 
shares from operations

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Blackwall UCITS Platform ICAV 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021 
 
1. ORGANISATION AND STRUCTURE 

The ICAV is an open-ended umbrella type Irish collective asset-management vehicle with limited liability and segregated liability between 
sub-funds, registered with and authorised by the Central Bank pursuant to part 2 of the ICAV Act and pursuant to the provisions of the 
UCITS Regulations and the Central Bank UCITS Regulations.  

 

The ICAV was registered in Ireland on 23 July 2018 and was authorised by the Central Bank on 13 December 2018 as an umbrella fund with 
segregated liability between sub-funds. 

 

The ICAV is structured as an umbrella type vehicle which may consist of different sub-funds, each comprising one or more classes. As at 31 
December 2021, the ICAV has one sub-fund namely the Blackwall Europe Equity Fund (the “Fund”).  

 

The investment objective of the Fund is to seek capital appreciation through investment primarily in listed European equity and equity 
related securities. 

 
2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(a) Basis of preparation  

These financial statements for the year 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021 are prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (“IFRS”) and the requirements of the ICAV Act, UCITS Regulations and Central Bank 
UCITS Regulations. 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses 
during the reporting period. Actual results ultimately may differ from those estimates. 
 
All references to net assets throughout this document refer to Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares, 
unless otherwise stated. The Fund classifies its redeemable participating shares as liabilities in accordance with IAS 32. 
 
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis and under the historical cost convention except for financial 
instruments classified at fair value through profit or loss that have been measured at fair value. 
 
The financial statements are prepared in Euro (“EUR”) and rounded to the nearest EUR.  

(b) Accounting standards that are effective from/after 1 January 2021 
 

There are no standards, amendments to standards or interpretations that are effective for annual periods beginning on 1 January 2021 
that have a material effect on the financial statements of the ICAV. 
 
A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 January 2021, 
and have not been early adopted in preparing these financial statements. None of these are expected to have a material effect on the 
financial statements of the ICAV. 
 
(c) Financial assets and financial liabilities  
  
(i) Classification  

 
In accordance with IFRS 9: “Financial Instruments”, the ICAV classifies its financial assets and financial liabilities at initial recognition into 
the categories of financial assets and financial liabilities discussed below.   
 

Financial assets   
 
The ICAV classifies its financial assets as subsequently measured at amortised cost or measured at fair value through profit or loss (or 
“FVPL”) on the basis of both: 
- the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets; and  
- the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets.  
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Blackwall UCITS Platform ICAV 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021 (continued) 
 
2.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 (c) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 
  
(i) Classification (continued) 
 

Financial assets (continued) 
 
Financial assets measured at FVPL  
A financial asset is measured at FVPL if:  
- Its contractual terms do not give rise to cash flows on specified dates that are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the 
principal amount outstanding; 
- It is not held within a business model whose objective is either to collect contractual cash flows, or to both collect contractual cash flows 
and sell; or  
- At initial recognition, it is irrevocably designated as measured at FVPL when doing so eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement 
or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on them on 
different bases.  
 
The ICAV includes in this category:  
- Equity instruments. These include investments that are held under a business model to manage them on a fair value basis for investment 
income and fair value gains; and  
- Instruments held for trading. This category includes debt instruments which are acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near 
term. This category also includes derivative contracts in an asset position.  
 

 Financial assets measured at amortised cost   
The ICAV includes in this category short-term non-financing receivables including cash collateral posted on derivative contracts, balances 
due from brokers, accrued income and other receivables.   
 
Financial liabilities   
 
Financial liabilities measured at FVPL   
The ICAV includes in this category:  
- Derivative contracts in a liability position.  
 
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost   
This category includes all financial liabilities, other than those measured at FVPL. The ICAV includes in this category balances due to brokers 
and other short-term payables. 
 
(ii) Fair value measurement  
Financial assets and financial liabilities at FVPL are initially recognised at fair value.  
 
After initial recognition, the ICAV measures financial instruments,which are classified at FVPL, at fair value. Fair value is the price that 
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement 
date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place 
either in the principal market for the asset or liability or, in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the 
asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to the ICAV. 
 
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or 
liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.  
  
The fair value for financial instruments listed or traded on regulated markets at the reporting date is based on their closing quoted or 
binding dealer price quotations, without any deduction for transactions costs.   

      For financial instruments which are listed or traded on a regulated market and where a quoted market price is not available, the fair value 
is its probable realisation value which may be estimated by a competent person using valuation techniques, including use of recent arm's 
length market transactions and reference to the current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same, discounted cash 
flow techniques, option pricing models or any other valuation technique that provides a reliable estimate of prices obtained in actual 
market transactions. Please refer to note 14 for details on the valuation inputs for each security type. 
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Blackwall UCITS Platform ICAV 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021 (continued) 
 
2.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(ii) Fair value measurement (continued) 

 Derivative contracts traded on a regulated market are valued at the settlement price as determined by the market. Over the counter 
(“OTC”) derivative contracts are valued based on counterparty or independent valuations. Please refer to note 14 for details on the 
valuation inputs for each derivative type. 

 Subsequent changes in the fair value of those financial instruments are recorded in the “Net realised and unrealised gains and losses on 
financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss” as disclosed in note 4.                

 All investments in the ICAV’s portfolio were recorded at fair value.              
 
(iii) Recognition/derecognition  
Purchases and sales of investments are recognised on the trade date – the date on which the ICAV commits to purchase or sell the 
investment.  

 
      A financial asset is derecognised where: 
        

(i) the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;         
(ii) the ICAV has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in 

full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and          
(iii) either (a) the ICAV has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the ICAV has neither transferred nor 

retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset. 
 

When the ICAV has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset (or has entered into a pass-through arrangement), and has 
neither transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the 
extent of the ICAV’s continuing involvement in the asset.    

 
The ICAV derecognises a financial liability when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expired. 
 

      (iv) Net gains/(losses) on financial assets and liabilities at FVPL 
Net gains/ (losses) on financial assets and liabilities at FVPL include all realised and unrealised fair value changes and foreign exchange 
differences but excludes interest and dividend income. The ICAV uses the average costing method to determine realised gains and losses 
on derecognition. 

 
(v) Forward foreign currency contacts 
The unrealised gain or loss on open forward foreign currency contracts, if any, is calculated as the difference between the original 
contracted rate and the rate to close out the contract at that point in time. Realised gains or losses include net gains on contracts which 
have been settled or offset by other contracts. The ICAV recognises a realised gain or loss in the Statement of comprehensive income when 
the contract is closed. 
 
(vi) Options  
As part of the ICAV’s investment strategy, it enters into options which are recognised on the Statement of financial position at fair value. 
The premium on purchased put options exercised is subtracted from the proceeds of the sale of the underlying security or foreign currency 
in determining the realised gain or loss, the premium on purchased call options exercised is added to the cost of the securities or foreign 
currency purchased. Premiums paid on the purchase of options which expire unexercised are treated as realised losses. Unrealised gains or 
losses on options are included in assets or liabilities on the Statement of financial position and movements are dealt with through the 
Statement of comprehensive income. 
 

       (vii)Transaction costs 
Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of a financial asset or liability. An 
incremental cost is one that would not have been occurred if the entity had not acquired, issued or disposed of the financial instrument. 
When a financial asset or liability is recognised initially, an entity shall measure it at its fair value plus, for an item not at FVPL, transaction 
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or liability. Transaction costs on financial assets and 
liabilities at FVPL incurred during the year are shown in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

 
(d) Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in bank and other short-term investments in an active market with original maturities of three 
months or less. 
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2.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 
(e) Foreign exchange 
The functional and presentation currency of the Fund is Euro (“EUR”or “€”). Assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than 
EUR are translated into EUR at the closing rates of exchange at each year end. Transactions during the year, including purchases and sales 
of securities, income and expenses, are translated at the rate of exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction. Foreign currency gains 
and losses are included in realised and unrealised gains and losses on financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss and foreign currencies , in the Statement of comprehensive income.  
 
(f) Income 
The Fund’s interest income from financial assets held at FVPL is recorded as part of net gains/(losses) on financial assets at FVPL within the 
Statement of comprehensive income. Interest is recognised as income on an effective interest basis. 

 
Dividend income is recognised in the Statement of comprehensive income on the dates on which the relevant securities are listed as "ex 
dividend". Dividend income is shown gross of any withholding taxes, which are disclosed separately in the Statement of comprehensive 
income, and net of any tax credits.  

 
(g) Expenses  
Expenses are recorded on an accrual basis, with the exception of transaction costs relating to the purchase or sale of financial instruments 
which are charged as incurred. 
 
(h) Distributions 
Each class of shares in the Fund currently in issue comprises accumulation shares. Accordingly, any net income, realised and unrealised 
gains attributable to such classes will be accumulated in the net asset value per share of the relevant class. 

 
(i) Receivables and payables 
Receivables are assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. Receivables are recognised initially at 
fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to their acquisition. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method, less provision for impairment (if any). 
 
Payables are liabilities with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. Payables are recognised at fair value 
plus transaction costs. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

 
(j) Redeemable participating shares 
The Fund currently has fourteen classes of redeemable participating shares in issue, which are redeemable at the holder’s option and do 
not have identical features. Such shares are classified as financial liabilities. Redeemable participating shares can be put back into the Fund 
at any dealing date for cash equal to the proportionate share of the Fund’s net asset value attributable to the share class. 

 
The redeemable participating shares are carried at the redemption amount that is payable at the Statement of financial position date if the 
holder exercises the right to put the share back to the Fund. Redeemable participating shares are issued and redeemed at the holder’s 
option at prices based on the Fund’s net asset value per share at the time of issue or redemption. The Fund’s net asset value per share is 
calculated by dividing the net assets attributable to the holders of each class of redeemable participating shares with the total number of 
outstanding redeemable participating shares for each respective class. 

 
(k) Margin cash 
Cash collateral provided by the Fund to a counterparty in relation to options is identified in the Statement of financial position as Margin 
cash. Margin cash is valued at amortised cost plus accrued interest which approximates fair value. 
 
(l) Use of judgements, estimates and assumptions 
In preparing the financial statements management has made judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities at the Statement of financial position date and the reported amounts of increases and decreases in Net assets 
resulting from operations during the year. 
 
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the year in 
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects 
both current and future periods. Actual results could differ from these estimates. 
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3.  TAXATION 

The ICAV is an investment undertaking as defined in Section 739B of the Taxes Consolidation Act 1997, as amended (“TCA”). The ICAV and 
its Fund will not be liable to Irish tax in respect of its income and gains, other than on the occurrence of a chargeable event.  

Generally a chargeable event arises on any distribution, redemption, repurchase, cancellation or transfer of shares or on the ending of a 
“Relevant Period”. A “Relevant Period” being an eight year period beginning with the acquisition of the shares by the Shareholder and each 
subsequent period of eight years beginning immediately after the preceding Relevant Period. 

A gain on a chargeable event does not arise in respect of:  

(i) A shareholder who is not an Irish resident and not ordinarily resident in Ireland at the time of the chargeable event provided the 
necessary signed statutory declarations are held by the ICAV and its Fund; or  

(ii) Certain exempted Irish resident investors who have provided the ICAV and its Fund with the necessary signed statutory declaration; 
or  

(iii) Any transactions in relation to shares held in a recognised clearing system as designated by order of the Revenue Commissioners of 
Ireland; or  

(iv) An exchange of shares in the ICAV for other shares in the ICAV ; or  

(v) An exchange of shares arising on a qualifying amalgamation or reconstruction of the ICAV with another investment undertaking; or  

(vi) Certain exchanges of shares between spouses and former spouses. 

In the absence of an appropriate declaration, the ICAV and its Fund will be liable to Irish tax on the occurrence of a chargeable event. There 
were no chargeable events during the year.  

Capital gains, dividends, and interest received by the Fund may be subject to withholding taxes imposed by the country of origin and such 
taxes may not be recoverable by the Fund or its shareholders. 

 
4.  NET GAINS AND LOSSES ON FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS AND FOREIGN 

CURRENCIES 
 

Blackwall Europe 
Equity Fund

Blackwall Europe 
Equity Fund

Year ended Year ended
31 December 2021 31 December 2020

EUR EUR
Realised gains on investments                    7,912,091                    2,803,214 
Realised (losses)/gains on options                 (16,261,021)                    2,676,226 
Realised gains/(losses) on forward currency contracts                    1,622,769                        (28,087)
Unrealised (losses)/gains on investments                 (12,790,046)                  10,669,089 
Unrealised gains/(losses) on options                       517,597                      (308,187)
Unrealised gains on forward currency contracts                       372,641                         85,789 
Net currency gains/(losses) 57,436 (158,593)

(18,568,533) 15,739,451 

 
5. FEES AND EXPENSES 
 

Establishment expenses 
The cost of establishing the ICAV and the Fund, including the expenses associated with obtaining authorisation from any authority 
(including, but not limited to, the Central Bank), filing fees, the preparation and printing of the Prospectus, marketing costs and the fees 
and expenses of legal counsel and other professionals involved in the establishment and initial offering of the Fund, will be discharged out 
of the assets of the Fund and will be amortised over the first five years of the ICAV’s operation. The cost of establishing any new sub-funds 
will be allocated to the relevant sub-fund and will be disclosed in the Relevant Supplement. However, for the purposes of the Financial 
statements, these establishment costs have been fully expensed in the first reporting period in line with IFRS (see Net asset value (Nav) 
reconciliation on page 40). 
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5. FEES AND EXPENSES (continued) 

 
Investment management fees  
Blackwall Capital Investment AG (the “Investment Manager”) is entitled to a fee in respect of its investment management and distribution 
services to the Fund (the “Investment management fee”). The investment management fees are payable out of the assets of the Fund in 
relation to the relevant classes of shares:  

 
 IM fee 

% per 
annum 

Class I EUR  0.75% 
Class R EUR  1.50% 
Class R GBP 1.50% 
Class A EUR   0.95% 
Class I GBP 0.75% 
Class I USD 0.75% 
Class D USD 1.00% 
Class I CHF 0.75% 
Class C EUR 0.50% 
Class B GBP 0.00% 
Class B CHF 0.00% 
Class C USD 0.50% 
Class R USD 1.50% 
Class C CHF 0.50% 

 
The investment management fee is calculated and accrued daily and is payable monthly in arrears based on the daily net asset value of the 
relevant class within the Fund. The Investment Manager is also entitled to be reimbursed for all its reasonable vouched out of pocket 
expenses.  
 
Investment management fees for the year ended 31 December 2021 were EUR 1,095,969 (31 December 2020: EUR 393,740) of which EUR 
84,526 (31 December 2020: EUR 62,579) was payable at the year end.  
 

 Performance fees 
The Investment Manager is entitled to a performance fee in respect of certain Classes equal to the percentage detailed below of the 
amount (if any) by which: 
 
(i) Where the Performance Fee hurdle (p.a.) is applicable to a Class, the value of the Net Asset Value of the relevant Class as at the last 

Business Day of the Performance Period exceeds the value of the Adjusted Net Value, as adjusted by the Hurdle; or 
 

(ii) where the Performance Fee Hurdle (p.a.) is not applicable to a Class, the Net Asset Value of the relevant Class as at the last Business 
Day of the Performance Period exceeds the Adjusted Net Asset Value of the relevant Class as at the last Business Day of the 
Performance Period. 

 
 Performance 

fee 
% per  
annum 

Class D USD 20% 
Class C EUR 10% 
Class B GBP 20% 
Class B CHF 20% 
Class C USD 10% 
Class C CHF 10% 

 
Performance fees for the year ended 31 December 2021 were EUR nil (31 December 2020: EUR 235,339) of which EUR nil (31 December 
2020: EUR 235,339) was payable at the year end. 
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5. FEES AND EXPENSES (continued) 
  

Manager Fees 
KBA Consulting Management Limited (the “Manager”) is entitled to receive out of the assets of the Fund an annual fee which will not 
exceed 0.03% of the net asset value of the Fund (plus any applicable taxes), subject to a minimum annual fee of €50,000. This fee accrues 
and is calculated on each Dealing Day and shall be payable monthly in arrears. The Manager is also entitled to be reimbursed for all its 
reasonable vouched out-of-pocket expenses. 
 
Manager fees for the year ended 31 December 2021 were EUR 50,000 (31 December 2020: EUR 50,000) of which EUR 12,500 (31 
December 2020: EUR 12,500) was payable at year end. 
 
Administration Fees 
The Administrator is entitled to receive out of the assets of the Fund an annual fee based on the percentages in the below table of the net 
asset value of the Fund (plus any applicable taxes) subject to an agreed monthly minimum of $6,500. 

  
 % of net asset value 

First $100 million 0.06% 

Next $100 million 0.05% 

Any amount in excess of $200 million 0.04% 

 
This fee accrues and is calculated on each Dealing Day and payable monthly in arrears. The Administrator is also entitled to charge to the 
Fund all agreed fees and transaction charges, at normal commercial rates, together with reasonable out-of-pocket expenses (plus any 
applicable taxes), it incurs on behalf of the Fund in the performance of its duties under the Administration Agreement, which shall be 
payable monthly in arrears.  

Administration fees for the year ended 31 December 2021 were EUR 94,090 (31 December 2020 EUR 87,081) of which EUR 9,061 (31 
December 2020: EUR 28,449) was payable at the year end. 

Depositary fees  
The Depositary is entitled to receive an annual fee based on the basis point rates in the below table of the net asset value of the Fund (plus 
VAT, if any), accrued and calculated on each Valuation Point and payable monthly in arrears subject to an agreed monthly minimum of 
$1,500. 

 Basis points per annum 

First $100 million 2.25 p.a 

Next $100 million 1.75 p.a 

Any amount in excess of $200 million 1.25 p.a 

 

The Depositary shall also be entitled to receive out of the assets of the Fund all agreed sub-depositary fees, transaction charges (which will 
be charged at normal commercial rates) together with reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the Depositary in the performance 
of its duties under the Depositary Agreement.  

Depositary fees for the year ended 31 December 2021 were EUR 82,149 (31 December 2020: EUR 36,953) of which EUR 9,826 (31 
December 2020: EUR 12,824) was payable at the year end. 

Directors Fees  
The Instrument of Incorporation provides that the Directors shall be entitled to a fee by way of remuneration for their services at a rate to 
be determined from time to time by the Directors. The Directors’ remuneration will not exceed €75,000 per annum in the aggregate or 
such other amount as may be determined by the Directors and notified to shareholders from time to time. Any such change in the 
Directors’ remuneration shall also be disclosed in an update to the Prospectus or in the ICAV’s financial statements, whichever is published 
sooner. The Directors shall be entitled to be reimbursed by the ICAV for all reasonable disbursements and out-of-pocket expenses incurred 
by them, if any. 
 
Directors fees for the year ended 31 December 2021 were EUR 45,365 (31 December 2020: EUR 15,365) of which EUR nil (31 December 
2020: EUR nil) was payable at the year end. 
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Auditors Remuneration 
The audit fee for the year was EUR 20,211 (31 December 2020: EUR 18,141), all of which was payable at year end. 
 
Transaction costs  
During the financial year, transaction costs of EUR 161,161 (31 December 2020: EUR 87,653) were incurred by the ICAV. 
 

6. OTHER EXPENSES 
 

Blackwall Europe 
Equity Fund

Blackwall Europe 
Equity Fund

Year ended Year ended
31 December 2021 31 December 2020

EUR EUR

Legal fees 19,000 6,902 

Corporate secretarial fees 7,561 10,686 

Other professional fees 50,646 52,751 

Reporting fees 4,218 4,432 

Miscellaneous fees 69,316 54,065 

Transfer agent fees 26,057 8,865 
176,798 137,701 

 
7.   OTHER PAYABLES 

 
Blackwall Europe 

Equity Fund
Blackwall Europe 

Equity Fund
As at As at

31 December 2021 31 December 2020
EUR EUR

Bank interest payable 7,832 6,932 

Legal fees payable 7,491 7,669 

Corporate secretary fees payable 2,614 5,465 

Other professional fees payable 7,257 7,427 

Reporting fees payable 745 1,474 

Transfer agent fees payable 2,447 2,595 

Miscellaneous fees payable 12,491 18,166 
40,877 49,728 

 
 

8.   CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND MARGIN CASH 
 
At 31 December 2021, the ICAV held cash and cash equivalents of EUR 4,527,183 (31 December 2020: EUR 10,570,708) with The Northern 
Trust Company (“TNTC”). TNTC is a wholly owned subsidiary of Northern Trust Corporation. Margin cash of EUR 310,010 (31 December 
2020: EUR 2,313,108) was held with Morgan Stanley. As at 31 December 2021, Northern Trust Corporation and Morgan Stanley had a long-
term rating from Standard & Poor’s of A+ (31 December 2020: A+) and BBB+ (31 December 2020: BBB+) respectively. 
 

9.  FINANCIAL DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS 
 
During the financial year, the Investment Manager has used forward foreign currency contracts to manage exposure to currency 
fluctuations and/or hedge currency risk to help generate positive returns and/or mitigate volatility and used options to provide exposure 
to increases/decreases in the market and/or hedge against an increase/decrease in the price of securities or other investments that the 
Fund holds or intends to purchase. 
 
Open financial derivative instrument contracts at the financial year-end are disclosed in the Schedule of Investments, including the 
relevant broker/counterparty, the underlying securities, currencies or indices, and the market value or unrealised gain/loss on the contract 
at the financial year end.  
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10. SHARE CAPITAL 

 
The share capital of the ICAV shall at all times equal the net asset value of the ICAV. The Directors are empowered to issue up to five 
hundred billion shares of no par value in the ICAV at the net asset value per Share on such terms as they may think fit. There are no rights 
of pre-emption upon the issue of shares in the ICAV. 

 
The ICAV has issued Subscriber Shares to the value of €300,002. The Subscriber Shares entitle the Shareholders holding them to attend and 
vote at all meetings of the ICAV, but do not entitle the holders to participate in the dividends or net assets of any sub-fund or of the ICAV. 
The ICAV reserves the right to redeem some or all of the Subscriber Shares. 

 
Class I EUR Class I EUR 
Year ended Year ended

Number of shares: 31 December 2021 31 December 2020
At the beginning of the year                    2,631,349                       180,196 
Subscriptions                    4,233,835                    2,461,287 
Redemptions                   (1,286,166)                        (10,134)
At the end of the year                    5,579,018                    2,631,349 

Class R EUR Class R EUR
Year ended Year ended

Number of shares: 31 December 2021 31 December 2020
At the beginning of the year                    1,677,343                    1,119,414 
Subscriptions                       529,466                       895,076 
Redemptions                      (347,705)                      (337,147)
At the end of the year                    1,859,104                    1,677,343 

Class R GBP Class R GBP
Year ended Year ended

Number of shares: 31 December 2021 31 December 2020
At the beginning of the year                           5,788                           2,250 
Subscriptions                              332                           5,568 
Redemptions                             (789)                          (2,030)
At the end of the year                           5,331                           5,788 

Class A EUR Class A EUR 
Year ended Year ended

Number of shares: 31 December 2021 31 December 2020
At the beginning of the year                       179,506                                   - 
Subscriptions                       170,730                       245,164 
Redemptions                      (258,335)                        (65,658)
At the end of the year                         91,901                       179,506 

Class I GBP Class I GBP
Year ended Year ended

Number of shares: 31 December 2021 31 December 2020
At the beginning of the year                       912,898                         69,635 
Subscriptions                       642,507                       906,134 
Redemptions                   (1,218,425)                        (62,871)
At the end of the year                       336,980                       912,898 

Class I USD Class I USD
Year ended Year ended

Number of shares: 31 December 2021 31 December 2020
At the beginning of the year                       126,811                           4,998 
Subscriptions                       304,362                       121,813 
Redemptions                      (184,243)                                   - 
At the end of the year                       246,930                       126,811 
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Class D USD Class D USD

Year ended Year ended
Number of shares: 31 December 2021 31 December 2020
At the beginning of the year                           9,000                                   - 
Subscriptions                                   -                           9,000 
Redemptions                                   -                                   - 
At the end of the year                           9,000                           9,000 

Class I CHF Class I CHF
Year ended Year ended

Number of shares: 31 December 2021 31 December 2020
At the beginning of the year                       133,433                                   - 
Subscriptions                       106,568                       168,963 
Redemptions                        (97,704)                        (35,530)
At the end of the year                       142,297                       133,433 

Class C EUR Class C EUR
Year ended Year ended

Number of shares: 31 December 2021 31 December 2020
At the beginning of the year                       128,090                                   - 
Subscriptions                                   -                       128,090 
Redemptions                                   -                                   - 
At the end of the year                       128,090                       128,090 

Class B GBP Class B GBP
Year ended Year ended

Number of shares: 31 December 2021 31 December 2020
At the beginning of the year                       591,410                                   - 
Subscriptions                           2,828                       591,410 
Redemptions                          (1,500)                                   - 
At the end of the year                       592,738                       591,410 

Class B CHF Class B CHF
Year ended Year ended

Number of shares: 31 December 2021 31 December 2020
At the beginning of the year                           5,000                                   - 
Subscriptions                           6,150                           5,000 
Redemptions                          (1,860)                                   - 
At the end of the year                           9,290                           5,000 

Class C USD Class C USD
Year ended Year ended

Number of shares: 31 December 2021 31 December 2020
At the beginning of the year                         20,000                                   - 
Subscriptions                                   -                         20,000 
Redemptions                                   -                                   - 
At the end of the year                         20,000                         20,000 

Class R USD Class R USD
Year ended Year ended

Number of shares: 31 December 2021 31 December 2020
At the beginning of the year                           6,917                                   - 
Subscriptions                         53,022                           6,917 
Redemptions                          (6,917)                                   - 
At the end of the year                         53,022                           6,917 
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10. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 

 
Class C CHF * Class C CHF

Number of shares: Year ended Year ended
At the beginning of the year                                   -                                   - 
Subscriptions                           1,000                                   - 
Redemptions                                   -                                   - 
At the end of the year                           1,000                                 -   

 
       * Share class launched on 11 March 2021 

 
11. NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE 

 
The Net Asset Value of the Classes divided by the number of shares of the Classes in issue as at the relevant Valuation Point is equal to the 
Net Asset Value of a share of the Classes. 

Blackwall Europe 
Equity Fund

Blackwall Europe Equity 
Fund

Blackwall Europe 
Equity Fund

As at As at As at
31 December 2021 31 December 2020 31 December 2019

NAV per share class
Class I EUR €71,700,373 €39,535,937 €1,993,048
Class R EUR €23,348,454 €24,811,667 €12,281,057
Class R GBP £63,881 £81,380 £23,345
Class A EUR  €1,009,880 €2,310,919 -
Class I GBP £4,442,981 £14,006,515 £780,878
Class I USD $3,198,699 $1,899,991 $54,418
Class D USD $95,326 $110,586 -
Class I CHF fr. 1,569,858 fr. 1,727,851 -
Class C EUR €1,390,636 €1,621,547 -
Class B GBP £5,716,093 £6,587,644 -
Class B CHF fr. 88,671 fr. 55,634 -
Class C USD $202,483 $233,743 -
Class R USD $454,519 $69,195 -
Class C CHF * fr. 8,865 - 

NAV per share
Class I EUR €12.85 €15.02 €11.06
Class R EUR €12.56 €14.79 €10.97
Class R GBP £11.98 £14.06 £10.38
Class A EUR  €10.99 €12.87                              -   
Class I GBP £13.18 £15.34 £11.21
Class I USD $12.95 $14.98 $10 89
Class D USD $10.59 $12.29  - 
Class I CHF fr. 11.03 fr. 12.95  - 
Class C EUR €10.86 €12.66  - 
Class B GBP £9.64 £11.14  - 
Class B CHF fr. 9.54 fr. 11.13  - 
Class C USD $10.12 $11.69  - 
Class R USD $8.57 $10.00  - 
Class C CHF * fr. 8.86 -  - 
 

      
         * Share class launched on 11 March 2021 

 
12. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS 

IAS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ requires the disclosure of information relating to material transactions with parties who are deemed to 
be related to the reporting entity.  
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12. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS (continued) 

The Fund is managed by Blackwall Capital Investment AG, the Investment Manager. Under the terms of the Investment Management and 
Distribution Agreement, the Investment Manager is responsible, subject to the overall oversight and control of the Directors, for managing 
the assets and investments of the Fund in accordance with the investment objective and policies of the Fund. The Investment Manager is 
entitled to receive Investment Manager fees and performance fees as set out in Note 5. 
 
Thomas Karlovits and Gino Landuyt, both Directors of the ICAV, are employees of the Investment Manager and as such do not receive a 
directors’ fee. 

Stephen Finn, a Director of the ICAV, is an employee of the Manager. 

None of the Directors of the ICAV hold or held shares in the Fund during the year ended 31 December 2021. 
 
The Money Laundering Reporting Officer (“MLRO”) and Secretary of the ICAV are employees of KB Associates which is part of the same 
economic group as the Manager. 

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the MLRO fees amounted to EUR 7,500  (31 December 2020: EUR 6,806) of which EUR 1,875 (31 
December 2020: EUR nil) was payable at the year end. The Secretary fees amounted to EUR 7,561 (31 December 2020: EUR 10,686) of 
which EUR 2,614 (31 December 2020: EUR 5,465) was payable at the year end. 

The fees charged by the Manager and Directors are disclosed in Note 5 to the financial statements. 
 
13. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT  
 

The Fund’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk 
and liquidity risk.  
 
The investment objective of the Fund is to seek capital appreciation through investment primarily in listed European equity and equity 
related securities. 
 
The Fund takes exposure to certain risks to generate investment returns on its portfolio. These risks can potentially result in a reduction in 
the Fund’s net assets. The Investment Manager will use its best endeavours to minimise the potentially adverse effects of these risks on 
the Fund’s performance where it can do so while still managing the investments of the Fund in a way that is consistent with the Fund’s 
investment objective and policy. Please refer to the Fund’s Prospectus under the heading Risk Factors for further discussion on the ICAV’s 
risk management policies. 
 
The Fund’s financial instruments consist of transferable securities, exchange traded and OTC derivatives and cash. The nature and extent of 
the financial instruments outstanding at the Statement of financial position date and the risk management policies employed by the ICAV 
are discussed further below.  
 
Market risk  
IFRS 7 defines market risk as the risk that the fair value or cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market 
prices. Market risk reflects interest rate risk, currency risk and other price risks. The maximum risk resulting from financial instruments the 
Fund holds is equal to their fair or notional value.  
 
The Fund’s holdings are susceptible to market price risk arising from uncertainties about future prices of the instruments. The Investment 
Manager moderates this risk through a careful selection of securities within specified limits. In addition, the Investment Manager manages 
the exposure of the portfolio to the risk of adverse changes in the general level of market prices through adhering to its formal risk 
management process, which includes the use of systems and technology to monitor overall market and position risk on a daily basis.  
 
The Fund utilises the commitment approach methodology for the calculation of global exposure. The leverage exposure of the Fund 
through the use of derivatives will not exceed 100% of the Fund’s net asset value. 
 
The Directors of the ICAV set limits and give a mandate to the Investment Manager, who manages this risk in line with the Prospectus. The 
Directors of the ICAV monitor the market risks inherent in the investment portfolio by ensuring full and timely access to relevant 
information from the Investment Manager. The Directors of the ICAV meet regularly and at each meeting review investment performance 
and overall market positions. They monitor the Investment Manager’s compliance with the ICAV’s objectives. The Fund’s market risk is 
primarily affected by two components: changes in market prices and currency exchange rates. The Fund’s exposure to market risk is 
disclosed in the Schedule of investments. 
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13. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 
Interest rate risk  
Interest rate risk arises from the effects of fluctuations on the prevailing levels of market interest rates on the fair value or future cash 
flows of financial assets and liabilities. At 31 December 2021, the Fund held cash amounting to 4.22% (31 December 2020: 13.58%) of the 
net assets. The Fund's cash and cash equivalents expose it to interest rate risk. The Fund's other financial assets are non-interest bearing. 
The Fund’s financial liabilities are non-interest bearing.  
 

 Sensitivity analysis 
As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, because the fund did not hold any fixed income securities, it was not materially exposed 
to interest risk and therefore no sensitivity analysis is presented.  

 
 Currency risk  

Currency risk is defined in IFRS 7 as the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in foreign exchange rates. The Fund is exposed to currency risk as the assets and liabilities of the Fund are denominated in a 
currency other than the functional currency of the Fund, which is EUR.  
 
Currency risk arises as the value of future transactions, recognised assets and liabilities denominated in other currencies fluctuate due to 
changes in foreign exchange rates. The following tables show the net exposure to foreign currency risk at 31 December 2021 and 31 
December 2020. 
 

Net Exposure Sensitiv ity*

31 December 2021 EUR EUR

Swiss Franc                        8,956,749                           447,838 

Danish Kroner                                  249                                    12 

Sterling Pound                      12,278,720                           613,936 

Norweigan Krone                            (73,337)                              (3,667)

Swedish Krona                           243,144                             12,157 

United States Dollar                        3,404,695                           170,235 

24,810,220 1,240,511 

 
Net Exposure Sensitiv ity*

31 December 2020 EUR EUR

Swiss Franc                        4,266,367                           213,318 

Danish Kroner                                  248                                    12 

Sterling Pound                      23,102,633                        1,155,132 

Norweigan Krone                           157,231                               7,862 

Swedish Krona                          (281,298)                            (14,065)

United States Dollar                        1,948,144                             97,407 

29,193,325 1,459,666 

 
 

*The effect of a 5% decrease in the exchange rate of EUR and the other currencies to which the fund was exposed with all the other 
variables held constant. A 5% increase in the exchange rate of EUR and the other currencies would have had an equal but opposite effect. 
 
Other price risk 
Other price risk is the risk that the value of the Fund’s financial instruments will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices caused by 
factors other than interest rate or foreign currency movement. Price risk arises primarily from uncertainty about the future prices of 
financial instruments that the Fund holds. This Fund is exposed to equity securities and derivative  price risk. 
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13. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 
Sensitivity analysis 
If the price of the underlying investments held by the Fund had increased by 5% (31 December 2020: 5%) at 31 December 2021, with all 
other variables held constant, this would have increased the Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares of the 
Fund by EUR 5,590,349 (31 December 2020: EUR 4,274,803). 
 
Conversely, had it decreased by 5% (31 December 2020: 5%), this would have decreased the Net Assets Attributable to Holders of 
Redeemable Participating Shares of the Fund by an equal amount with all other variables remaining constant. 
 
Liquidity risk 
IFRS 7 defines liquidity risk as the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities.  
 
The Fund is exposed to daily cash redemptions of shares. The Fund invests the majority of its assets in equities which are considered to be 
liquid, as they can be readily disposed of in the event that cash needs to be raised to meet redemptions or to pay expenses. There are a 
number of circumstances when the ICAV may temporarily suspend the right of Shareholders to require the realisation of shares of any 
Class and/or may delay the payment of any monies in respect of any such realisation. 
 
In accordance with the Fund’s policy, the Investment Manager monitors the Fund’s liquidity on a daily basis and the Directors review any 
significant exposures at their periodic meetings. At 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 the Fund’s financial liabilities, as disclosed 
on the Statement of financial position, were all due within three months. 
 
Credit risk  
Credit risk is defined in IFRS 7 as the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to 
discharge an obligation. The Fund will be exposed to credit risk on parties with whom it trades, which will include counterparties, and may 
also bear the risk of settlement default. The carrying amounts of financial assets best represent the maximum credit risk exposure at the 
Statement of financial position date.  

All transactions entered into by the Fund in listed securities are settled/paid for upon delivery using approved brokers. The risk of default is 
considered minimal, as delivery of securities sold is only made once the broker has received payment. Payment is made on a purchase 
once the securities have been received by the broker. The trade will fail if either party fails to meet its obligation.  
 
Northern Trust Fiduciary Services (Ireland) Limited (“NTFSIL”) is the appointed Depositary of the Fund, responsible for the safe-keeping of 
assets. NTFSIL has appointed The Northern Trust Company (“TNTC”) as its global sub-custodian. Both NTFSIL and TNTC are wholly owned 
subsidiaries of Northern Trust Corporation (“NTC”). As at year-end date 31 December 2021, NTC had a long term credit rating from 
Standard & Poor’s of A+ ( 31 December 2020: A+). NTFSIL is also counterparty to the Fund's forward foreign currency contracts and 
Morgan Stanley is counterparty to the Fund's options. As at 31 December 2021, Morgan Stanley had a long term rating from Standard & 
Poor’s of BBB+ (31 December 2020: BBB+). 
TNTC (as global sub-custodian of NTFSIL) does not appoint external sub-custodians within the U.S., the U.K., Ireland, Canada, Belgium, 
France, Germany, Netherlands and Saudi Arabia. However, in all other markets, TNTC appoints local external sub-custodians. 

NTFSIL, in the discharge of its depositary duties, verifies the Fund’s ownership of Other Assets, (as defined under Other Assets, 1), by 
assessing whether the Fund holds the ownership based on information or documents provided by the Fund or where available, on external 
evidence. 

TNTC, in the discharge of its delegated depositary duties, holds in custody (i) all financial instruments that may be registered in a financial 
instruments account opened on the books of TNTC and (ii) all financial instruments that can be physically delivered to TNTC. TNTC ensures 
all financial instruments (held in a financial instruments account on the books of TNTC) are held in segregated accounts in the name of the 
Fund, clearly identifiable as belonging to the Fund, and distinct and separately from the proprietary assets of TNTC, NTFSIL and NTC.  
 
In addition TNTC, as banker, holds cash of the Fund on deposit. Such cash is held on the Statement of Financial Position of TNTC. In the 
event of insolvency of TNTC, in accordance with standard banking practice, the Fund will rank as an unsecured creditor of TNTC in respect 
of any cash deposits. 

Insolvency of NTFSIL and or one of its agents or affiliates may cause the Fund’s rights with respect to its assets to be delayed. 

The Investment Manager manages risk by monitoring the credit quality and financial position of the Depositary and such risk is further 
managed by the Depositary monitoring the credit quality and financial positions of sub-custodian appointments. 

 

 
1 Art 22(5) of UCITS V Directive 2014/91/EU 
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Credit Risk (continued) 
The tables below show the exposure to credit risk at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020. 

 
31 December 2021 31 December 2020

EUR EUR

- Investments in financial derivative instruments - net forward foreign currency contracts                       398,318                         24,157 
- Investments in financial derivative instruments - options                       748,710                       253,575 
Cash and cash equivalents                    4,527,183                  10,570,708 
Margin cash                       310,010                    2,313,108 
Capital shares sold receivable                       174,763                       981,370 
Other assets                                 -                             2,360 
Total credit risk exposure 6,158,984 14,145,278 

 
14. FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY  

 
IFRS 13 requires the ICAV to classify fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in 
making the measurements. The fair value of financial assets and liabilities traded in active markets are based on quoted market prices at 
the close of trading on the reporting date. The ICAV uses last traded market prices as its valuation inputs for listed securities. If market 
quotations are not available or are unrepresentative, estimation methods may be used to calculate fair value. 

 
The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:  
• Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.  
• Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as 

prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices).  
• Level 3: Certain inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs). 

 
The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety is determined on the basis of the 
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety.  
 
For this purpose, the significance of an input is assessed against the fair value measurement in its entirety. If a fair value measurement 
uses observable inputs that require significant adjustment based on unobservable inputs, that measurement is a Level 3 measurement. 
Assessing the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgement, considering factors specific 
to the asset or liability. 
 
The determination of what constitutes “observable” requires significant judgement by the ICAV. The ICAV considers observable data to be 
that market data that is readily available, regularly distributed or updated, reliable and verifiable, not proprietary, and provided by 
independent sources that are actively involved in the relevant market. 

The following tables analyse within the fair value hierarchy the ICAV’s financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value at 31 
December 2021 and 31 December 2020. 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
31 December 2021 EUR EUR EUR EUR

Assets

Equities             110,659,942                             -                               -               110,659,942 
Options                    748,710                             -                               -                      748,710 
Open forward foreign currency contracts                             -                      587,864                             -                      587,864 

            111,408,652                    587,864                             -               111,996,516 

Liabilities
Open forward foreign currency contracts                             -                    (189,546)                             -                    (189,546)

                            -   (189,546)                             -   (189,546)
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Lev el 1 Lev el 2 Lev el 3 Total

31 December 2020 EUR EUR EUR EUR

Assets
Equities            85,447,688                           -                             -              85,447,688 
Options                 253,575                           -                             -                   253,575 
Open forward foreign currency contracts                           -                   229,368                           -                   229,368 

           85,701,263                 229,368                           -              85,930,631 

Liabil ities
Open forward foreign currency contracts                           -                  (205,211)                           -                  (205,211)

                          -   (205,211)                           -   (205,211)
 

 
There have been no transfers between Level 1, Level 2 or Level 3 assets or liabilities held during the year. 
No investments have been classified within Level 3 at any time during the year.   

Financial Assets and Liabilities not measured at FVPL   

The financial assets and liabilities not measured at FVPL are short-term financial assets and financial liabilities whose carrying amounts 
approximate fair value. Cash and cash equivalents are categorised as Level 1 and all other financial assets and liabilities not measured at 
FVPL are categorised as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. 
 

15. EXCHANGE RATES 
 

The following table shows the exchange rates (against EUR) used to convert assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies into 
EUR at the year end.  
 

Exchange Rate to 
EUR

Exchange Rate to 
EUR

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Sterling Pound 0.8396 0.8951
United States Dollar 1.1372 1.2236
Swiss Franc 1.0362 1.0816
Norweigan Krone 10.0282 10.476
Swedish Krona 10.2960 10.0485
Danish Kroner 7.4376 7.4435  

 
16. SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE YEAR 

 
The Supplement for the Fund was updated on 9 March 2021 and 8 December 2021 to include pre-contractual disclosures required under 
the Sustainable Finance Disclosure Regulation and the Taxonomy Regulation respectively. 

Share Class C CHF launched on 11 March 2021. 

The Supplement for the Fund was updated on 6 August 2021 to provide for offering distributing share classes. 

There were no other significant events during the year ended 31 December 2021. 

 
17. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS  

 
There have been no events after the Statement of financial position date which, in the opinion of the Directors of the ICAV, may have an 
impact on the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021. 
 

18. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT   
 
The capital of the ICAV is represented by the net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares. The amount of net 
assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares can change significantly. The ICAV’s objective when managing capital is to 
safeguard the ICAV’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders 
and to maintain a strong capital base to support the development of the investment activities of the ICAV.  
 

19. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

These financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 19 April 2022. 
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SECURITIES FINANCING TRANSACTIONS DISCLOSURE:  
 
A Securities Financing Transaction (“SFT”) is defined as per Article 3(11) of the Securities Financing Transactions Regulation as:  
·         a repurchase transaction;  
·         securities or commodities lending and securities or commodities borrowing;  
·         a buy-sell back transaction or sell-buy back transaction; or  
·         a margin lending transaction.  
UCITS are required to disclose the use of SFTs. 
 
For the year from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021, Blackwall UCITS Platform ICAV did not trade in any SFTs. 
 
NET ASSET VALUE (NAV) RECONCILIATION  
 

EUR
Nav per dealing valuation 114,708,837 
Adjustment for writing off of Establishment costs (2,758)
Nav for financial statements purposes 114,706,079 
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REMUNERATION DISCLOSURE 
 
The Manager has designed and implemented a remuneration policy (the “Policy”) in line with the provisions of S.I. 257 of 2013 European 
Union (Alternative Investment Fund Managers) Regulations 2013 (the “AIFM Regulations”), S.I. 352 of 2011 European Communities 
(Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities) Regulations 2011 (as amended) (the “UCITS Regulations”) and of the ESMA 
Guidelines on sound remuneration policies under the UCITS Directive and AIFMD (the “ESMA Guidelines”). The Policy is designed to ensure 
that the remuneration of key decision makers is aligned with the management of short and long-term risks, including the oversight and where 
appropriate the management of sustainability risks in line with the Sustainable Finance Disclosure Regulations. 

The Manager’s remuneration policy applies to its identified staff whose professional activities might have a material impact on the ICAV’s risk 
profile and so covers senior management, risk takers, control functions and any employees receiving total remuneration that takes them into 
the same remuneration bracket as senior management and risk takers and whose professional activities have a material impact on the risk 
profile of the ICAV. The Manager’s policy is to pay identified staff a fixed component with the potential for identified staff to receive a variable 
component. It is intended that the fixed component will represent a sufficiently high proportion of the total remuneration of the individual to 
allow the Manager to operate a fully flexible policy, with the possibility of not paying any variable component. When the Manager pays a 
variable component as performance related pay certain criteria, as set out in the Manager’s remuneration policy, must be adhered to. The 
various remuneration components are combined to ensure an appropriate and balanced remuneration package that reflects the relevant staff 
rank and professional activity as well as best market practice. The Manager’s remuneration policy is consistent with, and promotes, sound and 
effective risk management and does not encourage risk-taking which is inconsistent with the risk profile of the funds it manages.  These 
disclosures are made in respect of the remuneration policies of the Manager. The disclosures are made in accordance with the ESMA 
Guidelines. 

Total remuneration (in EUR) paid to the identified staff of the Manager fully or partly involved in the activities of the ICAV that have a material 
impact on the ICAV’s risk profile during the financial year to 31 December 2021: 

Fixed remuneration  EUR 

Senior management  1,232,664 

Other identified staff  - 

Variable remuneration   

Senior management  110,724 

Other identified staff  - 

Total remuneration paid  1,343,388 

 
No of identified staff – 16 
 
Neither the Manager nor the ICAV pays any fixed or variable remuneration to identified staff of the Investment Manager. 
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SUSTAINABLE FINANCE DISCLOSURE REGULATION (“SFDR”) AND TAXONOMY REGULATION 
 
The Fund has been categorised as an Article 8 financial product for the purposes of SFDR. The Investment Manager generally measures any 
relevant environmental or social matters using third-party standards, guidelines and metrics and, due to the lack of definition and 
standardisation of environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) in the investment world and the inconsistencies in third-party data supply, 
using data from its own in-house solution based on a proprietary ESG scoring methodology. The Investment Manager’s integrated approach to 
ESG research is based on three pillars: (i) the Investment Manager has developed a checklist of 125 ESG related key performance indicators, (ii) 
it has introduced an overall qualitative ESG assessment based on its extensive in-house ESG research and (iii) the result of its internal ESG 
analysis is verified for consistency with data from several renowned third-party ESG service providers, where available. 

For the Fund’s overall ESG profile, the Investment Manager aggregates all individual investments’ ESG scores and weights them in accordance 
with the Fund’s holdings, thereby deriving an easy-to-reconcile total ESG score. The Fund, since the implementation of this rating system, has 
committed to only holding assets in its portfolio that rank 5 or above in its 0 – 10 ESG scoring.  

When considering an investment, the Investment Manager will consider whether the issuer meets good governance practices, in particular 
with respect to sound management structures, employee relations, remuneration of staff and tax compliance. Analysis is undertaken on the 
level of exposure of a particular issuer with regard to relevant risks associated with good governance and, critically, management’s actions to 
manage such risks. Good governance standards include board balance, independence, transparency, disclosure and the protection of 
shareholder rights, and a review of whether the issuer has been the subject of serious or ongoing concerns about unsustainable business 
practices, such as human rights and labour standards abuses, corruption and abuse of minority shareholders. 

Further information on the Investment Manager’s approach to ESG is available at https://www.blackwallcapital.com/esg-policy.  

The Fund may invest in economic activities that contribute to an environmental objective within the meaning of SFDR and, as such, may be 
eligible to be assessed for Taxonomy alignment. The ‘do no significant harm’ principle applies only to those investments underlying the Fund 
that take into account the criteria for environmentally sustainable economic activities. The investments underlying the remaining portion of 
the Fund do not take into account the EU criteria for environmentally sustainable economic activities. 

The Regulatory Technical Standards (RTS) under SFDR which define the methodology for the calculation of the proportion of the Fund’s 
environmentally sustainable investments and include the templates for these disclosures are not yet in force. Furthermore, disclosure of 
taxonomy alignment for in-scope Article 8 financial products is dependent on disclosure by undertakings of the proportion of their products or 
services (as measured by turnover, capital expenditure and operating expenditure) that are associated with Taxonomy-aligned economic 
activities. These disclosures of such undertakings are likely only to be available from 1 January 2023 onwards. As a result, the Investment 
Manager at this time is not able to provide standardised and comparable disclosures on the proportion of environmentally sustainable 
investments (including the proportion of enabling and transitional activities) according to the Taxonomy Regulation. As a financial market 
participant, the Investment Manager supports transparency in relation to how and to what extent the Fund invests in activities that meet the 
criteria for environmentally sustainable economic activities under the Taxonomy Regulation and will provide this information as soon as is 
reasonably practicable. 

 




